**RECEIVED**

**Oct 24 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

NASIREA BREWNOPLIS JEROME GRATE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001460

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

GARY H. JOHNSON  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

1. **Did the trial court err in admitting appellant's booking report with photograph maintained by the Horry County Police Department that included information indicating appellant had an alias, hold orders, and a Federal Bureau of Investigation identification number under the pretext that the state needed to establish appellant's address?**
  
2. **Did the trial court err in failing to charge the law in South Carolina regarding self-defense upon being presented with a question from the jury during deliberations when counsel for appellant argued self-defense during closing arguments?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nasirea Grate and his co-defendant Dajon Grate were indicted in Horry County for two counts of murder and one count of armed robbery in January of 2023. R. 1260. They were tried together before Judge Benjamin Culbertson and a jury from August 19 to 28, 2024. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Ralph Wilson, Sr., and the state by Nancy Livesay and Liz Martin. R. 2. James Galmore appeared on behalf of Dajon Grate. R. 2. The jury acquitted both defendants of all charges as indicted, but found both guilty of one count of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. R. 1223, l. 3 – 1224, l. 2. The trial court sentenced appellant to thirty years in prison. R. 1249, ll. 3-9.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 31, 2022, at about 1:30 in the afternoon, appellant and his brother (and co-defendant) Dajon Grate were recorded on surveillance video at the Sunhouse gas station. R. 48, l. 1 - 49, l. 25; 58, l. 10 - 59, l. 5. The two brothers arrived at the Sunhouse with two other individuals: Todd Fry drove the group in his silver Cadillac and Jeremiah Dicker (the Grates' cousin) was also with them. R. 724, ll. 2-22. Members of the group went inside, made purchases, and left the store. State's Ex. 40. Dicker can be seen in the video footage speaking with a man, identified as Kalik Conn, outside the convenience store. R. 721, l. 12- 722:1. 9; 725, ll. 5 - 11; State's Ex. 40. No audio was recorded by the surveillance system and no witness testified about the nature of this conversation.

Just after 2 p.m., Bereniece Mellado called 911 because she heard shooting outside her apartment. R. 115, l. 2 - 20; 119, ll. 5 - 19. When she looked out her window, she saw the back of "a guy" in a black shirt with a triangle logo on the back with "dreads" and a black mask. R. 116, ll. 8 - 18. Upon exiting the apartment, she found one young man dead on the steps and another dead in the driver seat of a white SUV outside. R. 119, ll. 18 - 121, l. 25.

The young man in the car was identified as Conn and Dicker was identified as he lay just off the sidewalk near the steps into an apartment. R. 338, l. 23 - 339, l. 8. Conn showed no defensive wounds indicating any attempt at blocking or protecting himself from gunfire. R. 934, ll. 23 - 25.<sup>1</sup> Conn was shot five times, with an immediately fatal wound being to the back of his head, which would have rendered him incapable of firing his weapon. R. 940, l. 15 - 941, l. 15. The state's expert analyzed two recovered two firearms, twenty shell casings, and several bullet

---

<sup>1</sup> The pathologist testified that defensive wounds are "injuries that are on the body in areas where you'd expect if a person is trying to protect their main surfaces from injury. So, it's usually on the backs of the arm or the front forearms as you're holding them up, and injuries in this area are considered defensive wounds. R. 931, ll. 12 - 17.

fragments. R. 579, l. 8 – 580, l. 2, 595, ll. 8 - 18. He identified four separate firearms being connected to the twenty shell casings. R. 582, ll. 6-20. Conn's Glock 9 mm left nine casings.<sup>2</sup> R. 592, l. 22 – 593, l. 25, 601, ll. 5 - 10. Dicker's firearm left four casings and was recovered in a jammed firing posture.<sup>3</sup> R. 591, ll. 15 – 24, 601, ll. 1 - 14. A third firearm (never recovered) was identified as a 9mm Luger and fired the casings recovered from the backseat of the SUV. R. 590, l. 20 – 591, l. 11, 601, ll. 15 - 24. A fourth firearm (also never recovered) was identified as a .45 caliber, and was connected to the final three casings found outside the vehicle on the driver's side. R. 590, ll. 6 - 22, 601, ll. 16 - 18. One of these .45 caliber casings was connected to the fatal head wound suffered by Conn. R. 595, l. 8-596, l. 23.

The pathologist noted being shot in the elbow was consistent with a defensive wound. R. 931, ll. 12 – 17. Co-defendant Grate was found following the shooting at a different location with a gunshot wound to his left arm near the elbow and his left leg. State's Ex. 62 08:22 – 08:45. Decedent Dicker was also shot in the elbow region. R. 931, l. 22 – 932, l. 6. Dicker's body was found several yards outside the Conn vehicle with a blood trail leading to the passenger front door. R. 121, ll. 20 - 24; State's Ex. 6. Dicker had been shot in the back and died on scene with his injury being consistent with Dicker fleeing Conn's gunfire. R. 939, ll. 13 – 18.

Appellant's co-defendant and brother, Dajon Grate, was seated in the rear of Conn's white SUV (his DNA was present in the blood stains in the rear seat along with his phone). R. 393, ll. 4 - 21, 397, ll. 7 - 12, 712, l. 14 – 713, l. 1. Cell phone records also confirmed that

---

<sup>2</sup> Conn's gun was a 9mm with an extended magazine and was found in his lap. R. 498, ll. 11 - 14, 537, l. 7 – 538, l. 17.

<sup>3</sup> Dicker's fingerprints were found on the jammed gun recovered just outside the passenger side of the SUV. R. 300, ll. 9 – 21; 495, ll. 7 - 24, 548, l. 22 – 549, l. 11, 648, l. 7 – 649, l. 24.

Dicker called Conn's phone and that they exchanged text messages leading up to the shooting.<sup>4</sup> R. 726, l. 20 – 727, l. 15; State's Ex. 199A. Investigators also found three bags of "a leafy green substance" inside Conn's white SUV and a digital scale in the center console. R. 497, l. 12 -498, l. 22. One of these bags was in the backseat. R. 353, ll. 19 - 22. Cell phone location data was used to place appellant's cell phone in the "vicinity" of the crime scene.<sup>5</sup> State's Ex. 199A.

The state produced no witness as to the cause of the shooting. The state produced no witness as to a drug transaction between the parties. The state produced no witness concerning the initial aggressor. The state's theory of the case centered on the presence of the drugs in Conn's vehicle and the belief that the shooting was a result of an attempted armed robbery as set forth in the indictments. R. 1260.

---

<sup>4</sup> The text messages shed no light on the dispute, as Dicker texted Conn the location of the eventual shooting and Conn texted "Cmin down street now" with Dicker replying "Ite." R. 727, ll. 16 – 24.

<sup>5</sup> This location was also in the "vicinity" of appellant's residence. R. 764, l. 6 – 765, l. 10; 773, ll. 3 – 6. Due to the technological limitations, the accuracy of the location data of appellant's phone was not as detailed as those of the other participants. R. 761, ll. 10 – 13; 773, l. 18 – 774, l. 19.

## ARGUMENT

1. The trial court erred in admitting appellant's booking report with photograph maintained by the Horry County Police Department that included information indicating appellant had an alias, hold orders, and a Federal Bureau of Investigation identification number under the pretext that the state needed to establish appellant's address.

### A. Standard of Review.

“Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” Rule 402, SCRE. Relevant evidence is defined as “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE.

State v. Green, 412 S.C. 65, 79, 770 S.E.2d 424, 431–32 (Ct. App. 2015). “The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006) (internal citations omitted).

### B. Relevant Facts.

The state moved to introduce State's Exhibit 47, appellant's booking information, that included his mugshot and “redacted” information. The redactions only struck through the actual information from the form, not the type or title of the information involved. Thus, the jury was

provided a photographic “mugshot” along with evidence that appellant had an alias, had a “FBI ID” and “holds” conditions. <sup>6</sup>

The state claimed the prejudicial booking report was needed to establish appellant’s address and nickname:

MS. LIVESAY: The document is a booking document. All I want to get in is the fact that Nasirea Grate's nickname is Knock-Knock and his home address is 504 Moore Road.

MR. WILSON: It's already in the record. She testified that this is Knock-Knock -- the lady who was up there. This is cumulative. And not only that, that booking report, you know, is prejudicial.

THE COURT: So, you're objecting to the booking report?

MR. WILSON: I'm objecting to both. The picture is cumulative. He's already been identified as Nasirea Grate. In fact, she turned to you and asked the Court to make note of the fact that she has -- the witness had identified this person, who is sitting next to me in the blue shirt, as being Knock-Knock, who is Mr. Grate.

The same thing is true with Mr. Dajon.

The witness has already put it in. The only reason for those pictures is prejudicial, because they're booking reports which show them in that kind of light. There is no other reason for it.

R. 90, ll. 5 – 25.

The trial court admitted the prejudicial document over objection, with some redactions, finding:

THE COURT: I'm going to allow -- she can authenticate what she took down and what she knows in her personal knowledge: these photographs, the addresses provided by the defendants. But if she doesn't know where this alias thing on the booking reports came from, we're going to have to redact that.

---

<sup>6</sup> State’s Exhibit 47 is on file with this Court for review. An additional photocopy has been included in the record on appeal.

R. 93, ll. 13 – 18.

The state's stated purpose, to establish appellant's address on Moore Road, was questionable, if not pretextual, in light of its admission of appellant's driver's license showing he resided at that address during trial. R. 1251.

Q. Okay. And speaking of 504 Moore Road, you collected State's Exhibit 28; right?

A Yes.

Q And what is the address on those licenses belonging to Nasirea Grate?

A All three of them say 504 Moore Road, Longs, South Carolina.

Q Okay. Is this consistent with what we have on this board?

A That says 504 Moore Road, Longs, South Carolina, yes, ma'am.

R. 739, ll. 3 – 13.

The state compounded the prejudicial nature of the booking report by using the booking photos as part of its closing argument.

Another manipulation is when the State takes these surveillance photos and takes these booking photos and sticks them on the board and leaves the board hanging up here in front of you the whole time. And you-all saw me, I would kind of come up here and drag it and take it back over there. I was doing that on purpose, because I wanted to highlight to you what they were doing. They were showing you these pictures and trying to say, "Okay, I showed you these pictures; therefore, he's guilty. " No, this picture just means that he was arrested and took a mug shot.

R. 1171, ll. 2 – 12.

### C. Discussion.

Under State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 600 S.E.2d 523 (2004), the introduction of evidence such as the “mugshot” of a defendant is reversible error unless:

- (1) the state has a demonstrable need to introduce the photograph,
- (2) the photograph shown to the jury does not suggest the defendant has a criminal record, and
- (3) the photograph is not introduced in such a way as to draw attention to its origin or implication. State v. Tate, 288 S.C. 104, 341 S.E.2d 380 (1986); State v. Robinson, 274 S.C. 198, 262 S.E.2d 729 (1980); State v. Denson, 269 S.C. 407, 237 S.E.2d 761 (1977).

Traylor, 360 S.C. at 84, 600 S.E.2d at 528.

The rationale behind this prohibition centers around the implication that the accused has prior criminal charges and are a direct attack on the character of the accused. *See* State v. Robinson, 274 S.C. 198, 201, 262 S.E.2d 729, 730 (1980) (noting the prohibition around admission of mug shots “necessarily imply” that the accused has “a prior criminal record and thus place his character in issue.”). The rationale behind this rule is the inclination of the jury to improperly apply prior criminal actions to convict based upon character of the accused rather than the evidence presented during trial.

‘In a criminal case, the State cannot attack the character of the defendant unless the defendant himself first places his character in issue.’ State v. King, 334 S.C. 504, 512, 514 S.E.2d 578, 582 (1999). ‘Further, evidence of prior bad acts is inadmissible to show criminal propensity or to demonstrate the accused is a bad person.’ Id. ‘Evidence of other crimes must be put to a rather severe test before admission.’ State v. Timmons, 327 S.C. 48, 52, 488 S.E.2d 323, 325 (1997).

State v. Lawson, 424 S.C. 51, 57, 817 S.E.2d 509, 512 (Ct. App. 2018).

Here, there was no demonstrable need to introduce the prejudicial booking report. The stated pre-text by the solicitor for the relevance of the booking report was to establish appellant’s

nickname as “Knock-Knock” and his address. R. 90, ll. 5 – 8. The listing of the alias (“Knock-Knock”) lacked any foundation and was redacted by the trial court. R. 93, ll. 13 – 18. The remaining “need” was accomplished through other evidence, such as appellant’s driver’s license seized from his home and admitted as State’s Exhibit 28.

The photograph, particularly when contrasted with the other “booking reports” admitted, suggested to the jury that appellant had a criminal record. The booking report and accompanying “mugshot” do not hide it was from appellant’s arrest on the current charges. The report also included headings with clear “redactions” showing information that was present on the form had been removed. This included disclosure of a FBI identification number, an alias, and incarceration hold. R. 1253. This can be easily contrasted with the booking report for Todd Fry which contained no redaction for “Holds” but also contained redactions for alias and FBI ID. R. 1254. Further highlighting the importance of the state’s telling redactions, the booking report for co-defendant Dajon Grate indicated “No Known Alias” as opposed to the visible redactions. R. 1255. Finally, the state went out of its way to highlight the booking report, placing it on a board and leaving it visible during trial through closing argument. R. 1171, ll. 2 – 12.

**D. Prejudice.**

The admission of the booking report, and the state’s subsequent use of the negative character implications, are prejudicial in a case in which the ultimate determination of appellant’s guilt turns in no small degree on whether Conn fired the first shot. As discussed below, self-defense was a viable alternative to the state’s theory that Conn was being robbed of his drugs and responded with his weapon. As there was no direct evidence the interaction of the parties was a drug transaction or an attempted armed robbery, the jury was left to use the

circumstantial evidence of the presence of the drugs in Conn's vehicle to support the state's theory. Importantly, the jury rejected the armed robbery theory and acquitted appellant of that charge. R. 1223, ll. 12 – 14.

An equally plausible theory was that Conn was the initial aggressor and fired his weapon first. The state's expert identified potential defensive wounds on the other two identified occupants of Conn's vehicle: Dicker and Dajon Grate. Conn fired numerous rounds before his fatal wound, striking both Dicker and Grate. Conn shot Dicker in the back as Dicker fled the vehicle. While Conn was fired upon from the backseat and both sides of his vehicle, the initial cause of the gunfire was open to debate. The state relied upon the presence of drugs in Conn's vehicle as the spark. Since there is no evidence in the record regarding the interactions inside the Conn vehicle before the shooting started, drugs as a spark is a theory and not a fact. Absent compelling evidence of guilt supported by the facts, the introduction of evidence like the booking report is reversible error requiring a new trial. *See State v. Traylor*, 360 S.C. 74, 600 S.E.2d 523 (2004) (noting the introduction of evidence such as the "mugshot" of a defendant is reversible error).

**2. The trial court err in failing to charge the law in South Carolina regarding self-defense upon being presented with a question from the jury during deliberations when counsel for appellant argued self-defense during closing arguments.**

**A. Standard of Review.**

“It is well-settled the law to be charged is determined from the evidence presented at trial, and if any evidence exists to support a charge, it should be given.” State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 262, 513 S.E.2d 104, 108 (1999). “If there is any evidence the defendant was acting in self-defense . . . the trial court must charge it and let the jury sort out whether it believes the State's version of events.” State v. Stoots, 445 S.C. 127, 132, 912 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2025).

Supplemental instructions in response to a question from the jury must be a correct statement of law and be clear that an earlier incomplete or “incorrect charge is not applicable and the ‘superimposed’ correct charge must control [the jury’s] decision.” State v. Bowers, 436 S.C. 640, 652, 875 S.E.2d 608, 614 (2022).

**B. Relevant facts.**

During closing argument, counsel for appellant argued that the jury should evaluate the state’s failure to disprove self-defense in considering whether the state had satisfied its burden of proof. This argument is in accord with the longstanding rule in South Carolina that the state bears the burden to disprove self-defense. *See* State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 235, 589 S.E.2d 1, 5 (2003) (holding “this Court has placed great emphasis on the importance of a defendant's right to assert self-defense when there is ‘any evidence’ to support it, and has taken pains to make sure the burden to disprove self-defense remains on the State.”).

In support of self-defense, appellant's counsel argued the evidence support the jury finding that Conn pulled his weapon and started firing first.

What I will tell you -- and the evidence supports this -- think about it for a second. Who gets shot in the back running away from the car? Right? Who gets shot in the back running away from the car? According to the solicitor, he's in the front seat. Right? Mr. Dickers is in the front seat of the car. That's her version of the facts.

And if he's in the front seat of the car and if that gun -- remember the one that jammed that's on the ground? If that's his gun, he ain't in no ability to shoot. But what happens to him? He gets shot in the back. By who? By who? Mr. Conn. Because he's the one with the gun, the ten shots that he fired away. Two of them found their way into the body of Mr. Dickers.

And you know how he got shot in the back? Remember the pathologist says that he had a defensive wound? What that means is he was trying to defend himself from Conn, because he's sitting in the front seat with Conn, according to her story. And he gets shot in the elbow because when Conn raises this gun to shoot him - - and I don't know what the argument was about -- she doesn't either. I don't know what the argument was about. *But if Conn pulled a gun and fired first, then they had every right to defend themselves. All of us do.*

R. 1145, l. 18 – 1146, l. 16 (emphasis added).

During jury deliberations, the jury asked the trial court two questions: “What is the law of (1) self-defense if they leave, and (2) What is the definition of voluntary manslaughter?” R. 1210, ll. 12 – 14. In response, the trial judge initially intended to tell the jury the bench had “ruled as a matter of law that self-defense is not an available defense to the defendants in this case.” R. 1212, ll. 4 – 6. Appellant's counsel objected, noting “I think a better charge would be to charge the jury that the State has to prove -- disprove all the elements of self-defense in proving their -- to meet their burden of proof; that they have to prove it. They have to disprove all the elements of self-defense in order to sustain their burden. I think that's a better charge in

this case . . .” R. 1212, ll. 17 – 23. Appellant’s counsel also noted that he had argued self-defense at great lengths during his closing. R. 1213, ll. 8 - 9.

The trial court questioned the ability of appellant to request self-defense, and claimed a logical inconsistency between the argument that appellant was not involved and a claim of self-defense.

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