RECEIVED

Nov 03 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001460

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

NASIREA BREWNOPLIS JEROME GRATE,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

BRIAN H. GIBBS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104137

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Phone: 803-734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1276
Conway, South Carolina 29528

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not err by denying Nasirea's motion to exclude his redacted booking report and photograph because this evidence was explained in such a manner that it did not imply Nasirea had committed prior bad acts.

Generally, the introduction of a booking photograph—and similarly, a redacted booking report—can be reversible error unless: "(1) the [S]tate has a demonstrable need to introduce the photograph, (2) the photograph shown to the jury does not suggest the defendant has a criminal record, and (3) the photograph is not introduced in such a way as to draw attention to its origin or implication." *State v. Traylor*, 360 S.C. 74, 84, 600 S.E.2d 523, 528 (2004).

Our Supreme Court noted that the rationale for holding that booking photographs are generally prejudicial, and therefore inadmissible absent a showing of the three criteria listed above, is because such photographs imply that a defendant has committed prior bad acts. *Id.* at 84 n.12, 600 S.E.2d at 528 n.12. At the same time, our Supreme Court held that where a booking photograph was explained by testimony at trial in such a manner that it did not imply that the defendant had committed prior bad acts, then no prejudice results from the admission of the booking photographs. *Id.* Therefore, where booking documents are explained in a way that does not imply a defendant committed prior bad acts, those documents are admissible.

Here, the witness that identified Dajon and Nasirea from personal knowledge was Sabrina Bryant, an employee at the Sunhouse convenience store. (R. 46). However, she did not know their legal names, instead identifying them only by nicknames. (R. 49). When the State sought to introduce the booking photographs and redacted booking reports immediately after Bryant's testimony, Sandy Lowe, the records custodian for the Horry County detention center, testified that anyone arrested and charged with a crime would have a similar booking report that would include their name, photograph, and address. (R. 98-99). These three pieces of information—name, photograph, and address—were all that the State sought to admit with the booking photographs

and redacted booking reports.⁵ Lowe testified that Dajon and Nasirea provided their address to her when they were processed after being arrested for the charges in this case. (R. 102, 106). Lowe confirmed that the booking photographs were taken after Dajon and Nasirea arrived at the detention center after being arrested for the crimes charged. (R. 106).

The booking reports were redacted except for Dajon and Nasirea's names, addresses, and physical identifying information (i.e., weight, height, age, etc.). (R. 1253, 1255). While the reports had lines for "FBI ID" and "Holds," any information associated with these lines was redacted and Lowe did not provide testimony as to what these lines meant. (R. 1253, 1255). The mere presence of these lines without any explanation does not suggest that Dajon or Nasirea committed prior bad acts because without explanation because these lines could mean anything or nothing at all.

While this particular case may not have been the "rarest of cases" in which our Supreme Court envisioned booking photographs and redacted booking reports to be used under the three criteria listed in *Traylor*, Dajon and Nasirea were nonetheless not prejudiced by the admission of this evidence because Lowe's testimony during trial made clear that this evidence concerned the charges in this case rather than some prior bad act. The booking photographs were taken after Dajon and Nasirea arrived at the detention center after being arrested for the crimes charged. (R. 106). The booking reports were created after Dajon and Nasirea arrived using information they provided to Lowe. (R. 101-102). Further, this evidence served to positively identify both Dajon and Nasirea by their legal names where the first witness who personally knew them could not. This evidence also confirmed both Dajon and Nasirea's home address, which was relevant because law enforcement executed a search at that address.

⁵ Lowe confirmed before her testimony that she did not recall from where the alias on Nasirea's report originated, and the State redacted it. (R. 92-93).

Because the entire concern with introducing booking photographs is the implication of prior bad acts, Dajon and Nasirea cannot be prejudiced by the introduction of booking photographs and redacted booking reports where such evidence is paired with testimony that explained the evidence did not imply any prior bad acts.

II. The trial court did not err by declining to charge the jury on self-defense after the jury began its deliberations because Nasirea did not request a self-defense charge before the jury began deliberations and because Nasirea was not entitled to a self-defense charge.

Generally, a trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. *Sheppard v. State*, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472 (2004). The evidence presented at trial determines the law to be charged to the jury. *State v. Brown*, 362 S.C. 258, 261-62, 607 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct. App. 2004). "The law requires this self-defense charge, however, only when there is evidence in the record to support the right of the defendant to use deadly force." *State v. Jalann Lee Williams*, 427 S.C. 246, 249, 830 S.E.2d 904, 905 (2019). "If there is no evidence to support the existence of any one element [of self-defense], the trial court must not charge self-defense to the jury." *Id.* at 249, 830 S.E.2d at 905-06. When any evidence in the record entitles the accused to a jury charge on self-defense, a trial court's refusal to give the charge is reversible error. *State v. Muller*, 282 S.C. 10, 10, 316 S.E.2d 409, 409 (1984).

A self-defense charge is only required when the evidence supports it. *State v. Slater*, 373 S.C. 66, 69, 644 S.E.2d 50, 52 (2007). The State then bears the burden of disproving self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt when evidence in the record entitles a defendant to a self-defense charge. *State v. Burkhart*, 350 S.C. 252, 261, 565 S.E.2d 298, 303 (2002).

To establish self-defense in South Carolina, four elements must be present: (1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant must have been in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; (3) if his defense is based

upon his belief of imminent danger, defendant must show that a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the belief that he was actually in imminent danger and that the circumstances were such as would warrant a person of ordinary prudence, firmness, and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or the loss of his life; and (4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger.

Slater, 373 S.C. at 69–70, 644 S.E.2d at 52. "Any act of the accused in violation of law and reasonably calculated to produce the occasion amounts to bringing on the difficulty and bars his right to assert self-defense as a justification or excuse for a homicide." *State v. Bryant*, 336 S.C. 340, 345, 520 S.E.2d 319, 322 (1999). An accused who provokes or initiates an assault cannot claim self-defense unless he both withdraws from the conflict and communicates his withdrawal by word or act to his adversary. *Id.*

A. Nasirea's failure to request a self-defense charge before or during the charge conference, failure to object to the trial court's jury charge as given without a self-defense charge, and failure to request an additional jury charge on self-defense at the conclusion of the trial court's jury charge before the jury began deliberations constitutes a waiver of his right to challenge the trial court's decision not to charge self-defense.

Rule 20(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure provides:

All requests for legal instructions to the jury shall be submitted at the close of evidence, or at such earlier time as the trial judge shall reasonably direct.

Further, Rule 20(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that notwithstanding requests to charge, a party must object to the giving or failure to give an instruction *before the jury retires* and that failure to do so constitutes a waiver of objection. Thus, trial courts have no obligation to give instructions which are requested in an untimely fashion. *See State v. Matthew Williams*, 319 S.C. 54, 56, 459 S.E.2d 519, 520 (Ct. App. 1995) ("The trial court had no obligation in this case to give the instruction that Williams requested because the time for Williams to properly request a particular instruction had passed.").

Here, Nasirea did not request a self-defense charge before or during the charge conference. (R. 1103-1108). He did not object before, during, or after the trial court's jury charge concerning the trial court not charging the jury on self-defense, despite being given ample opportunity to do so by the trial court. (R. 1186-1208). Nasirea's *first* mention of a self-defense charge on the record occurs over an hour into the jury's deliberations when the jury inquired about self-defense. (R. 1210-1219). Therefore, he waived any ability to challenge the trial court's jury charge as given without a self-defense charge because his challenge was not timely raised. *See State v. Simmons*, 423 S.C. 552, 561, 816 S.E.2d 566, 571 (2018) (stating that for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, "[t]he issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) *raised in a timely manner*, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity." (emphasis added) (quoting *S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 301-02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007))); *see also* Jean Hoefer Toal et al., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 185 (3d ed. 2016). Nasirea had ample opportunity to request a self-defense jury charge before the jury began its deliberations, and his failure to do so constitutes waiver of his right to request a self-defense charge.

B. Even if Nasirea had not waived his ability to request a self-defense charge, *State v. Jalann Lee Williams*⁶ precludes a self-defense charge because Nasirea's act of intentionally bringing a loaded gun to an illegal drug transaction was reasonably calculated to produce violence such that he was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty, making him ineligible for a self-defense charge.

In *Jalann Lee Williams*, our Supreme Court discussed the first element of self-defense—that the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty—where Williams intentionally brought a loaded, unlawfully possessed gun to an illegal drug deal. 427 S.C. at 250-51, 830 S.E.2d at 906. Our Supreme Court determined that such an act was a violation of law

⁶ 427 S.C. 246, 830 S.E.2d 904 (2019).

that was reasonably calculated to produce violence, which thereby barred Williams' right to assert self-defense. *Id.* Our Supreme Court noted three different illegal activities in which Williams participated, two of which are relevant here. *Id.* at 251, 830 S.E.2d at 907-08. The first illegal activity—unlawful possession of a gun—is not a factor in this case as the State did not allege Nasirea unlawfully possessed a gun. Second, the possession, purchase, or sale of marijuana is a violation of state law. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370(a) and (c). Third, it is a violation of federal law to bring a gun to an illegal drug transaction. *See* 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1)(A).

Here, the State presented testimony at trial that marijuana was found in Conn's white Acura SUV. (R. 353, 497). The circumstantial evidence presented at trial suggested that this incident started as a drug deal. Bryant stated that a man standing next to a white Acura, Conn, had been around the Sunhouse all day and that she had never seen him before. (R. 59-61). Nasirea talked to that man while the group was at the Sunhouse. (R. 59). Marcus testified that the cell phone records showed that Dicker called Conn shortly before the shooting. (R. 726). He stated that the records were consistent with Nasirea's phone and Dajon's phone both being at the crime scene when the shootings occurred. (R. 804, 806). Further, four guns were shot at the scene, only two of which were recovered by law enforcement. (R. 582-583).

Therefore, the evidence in the record supports the State's theory that Nasirea intentionally brought a loaded gun to an illegal marijuana transaction with Conn, which our Supreme Court has determined is a violation of law reasonably calculated to produce violence such that it bars a defendant's right to assert self-defense.

C. Even if Nasirea had not waived his ability to request a self-defense charge and if *State v. Jalann Lee Williams* is not applicable, the record contains no evidence that Nasirea acted in self-defense.

At trial, it was uncontested that no one knew who shot first. In closing Nasirea argued that no one knew who shot first. (R. 1143). Nasirea also asserts in his brief that no direct evidence of

who started shooting first exists. (Initial App. Br. 19). Dajon, in closing, implied that no one knew who shot first. (R. 1183). Without any evidence as to who shot first, no evidence exists to show that Dajon or Nasirea were without fault in bringing on the difficulty. See *Jalann Lee Williams*, 427 S.C. at 249, 830 S.E.2d at 905 ("The law requires this self-defense charge, however, only when there is evidence in the record to support the right of the defendant to use deadly force."); *id.* at 249, 830 S.E.2d at 905-06 ("If there is no evidence to support the existence of any one element [of self-defense], the trial court must not charge self-defense to the jury.").

Any argument that the evidence in the record supports an inference that Conn or Dicker shot first amounts to nothing more than conjecture and speculation.⁷ No testimony or other evidence was presented that supports a theory that Conn *must* have shot first or else he would not have been physically able to shoot nine times before he was paralyzed and/or killed. While the shot to the back of Conn's head undoubtedly left him unable to fire his weapon again, the number of shots he fired before succumbing to his substantial injuries does not imply that he began this incident. It merely implies that he knew how to pull a trigger, likely in quick fashion. No one knows who started shooting first; therefore, even in the light most favorable to Nasirea, there is no evidence that Dajon and Nasirea were without fault in bringing on this difficulty.

To the extent Nasirea argued that Dicker's elbow injury could be considered a defensive wound and that Dicker was shot in the back by Conn, thus meaning Dicker was defending himself from Conn, this theory also relies on an unsupported logical jump. Because we do not know who started shooting first, it is just as likely that someone other than Conn shot first and Conn was defending himself, which could have resulted in potentially defensive wounds to Dicker as well as

⁷ Indeed, Dajon seemed to agree when he asserted that the jury "saw something that none of us saw." (R. 1215).

Dicker being shot in the back. The point being: no one knows who started shooting first, so there is no evidence that Dajon and Nasirea were without fault in bringing on this difficulty.

Thus, because no evidence in the record exists to support the first element of self-defense, Nasirea was not entitled to a self-defense charge, and the trial court did not err by declining to charge the jury on self-defense.


CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State requests that this Court affirm Nasirea's conviction for voluntary manslaughter, as well as his associated sentence.

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

BRIAN H. GIBBS
Assistant Attorney General

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit